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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER 

 
CHAIRMANS LETTER 
  
Dear Shareholders,  
  
During the 2024 Financial Year, the Alterra team has proudly reached multiple noteworthy milestones at our Carpenters Avocado Project located 
in Western Australia’s south-west.  
  
The construction of Dam 1 is now practically complete and operational.  This surety of water supply provides a foundation to support the existing 
100Ha of planted trees whilst allowing for development of future crop and water assets. 
  
During the period the orchard workforce completed scheduled maintenance. This includes the addition of several beehives to assist in pollination 
across the orchard. Maintenance work continued during the period as part of the normal annual routine.   
 
The orchard harvested 183 bins in it’s first significant harvest representing approximately 68 tonnes of fruit and approximately $355K in net sales.  
The team tested processes without any issues and worked efficiently to bring in an early harvest to obtain maximum seasonal pricing.  The first 
harvest serves as an important milestone to mark the Company’s transition from project development to production. The maiden crop serves as 
an ideal opportunity to demonstrate important collection and provenance processes that are required for Alterra to achieve quality certification.  
 
 
Alterra remains dedicated to structuring the Project as a sustainable agribusiness operation of scale. To achieve this goal, the Company aims to 
use available arable land and water resources responsibly, lower the cost of production through modern fertigation techniques, and use an 
environmentally sustainable approach to infrastructure development to target best in sector performance.  
 
The planning of Stage 4 planting is well underway and preparation of the ground has commenced and is approaching finalisation. The final scale 
of Stage 4 is subject to a Final Investment Decision (FID) that will occur closer to the date when trees orders are finalised.  The next phase of 
Stage 4 includes an additional planting of 25Ha in 2025. 
 
The company sought approval from shareholders at a general meeting to be removed for the official list of the ASX and approval to sell its interest 
in Carbon Conscious Investments Limited (CCIL) on 28 June 2024 and these resolutions were both passed at the general meeting.  Subsequently 
the sale of CCIL occurred on 5 July 2024 and the company received proceeds of $1.74m.  

Throughout FY 2024 the dedication of the team has been exemplary. The Board remains confident in the premium nature and near-term 
potential of the Carpenters Project to supply high quality avocados to the rapidly growing global market. We believe that our produce will 
compete in the high-quality segment of the international market, but also compare favourably on a cost of production basis in the future. We 
look forward to continuing this progress in FY2025 and thank shareholders for their ongoing support.  
  
Paul Jensen 
Chairman 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS  

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS  
  
Dear Fellow Shareholders,  
  
The Alterra team is proud of the multiple major achievements reached during the past financial year. 
  
Operational Highlights 
  

• The preparation of Stage 4 planting is well underway and is approaching finalisation. The final scale of Stage 4 is subject to a Final 
Investment Decision (FID) that will occur closer to the date when trees orders are finalised.  The next phase of Stage 4 includes an 
additional planting of 25Ha in 2025 and tress have been ordered. 

• Harvested 183 bins in it’s first significant harvest representing approximately 68 tonnes of fruit and approximately $355K in net sales.  
The team tested processes without any issues and worked efficiently to bring in an early harvest to obtain maximum seasonal pricing.   

• Practical completions of Dam 1 reaching sufficient holding capacity to meet current and upcoming water requirements. The Dam 
successfully reached the height to capture ~1GL of water over the winter season which can meet the needs of the existing ~100ha.  

• Ongoing best horticultural practice has been implemented across the entire orchard to drive operational efficiencies. This includes 
sustainable irrigation, fertilisation, weed control techniques that provide operational, risk mitigation, and cost reduction benefits.  

  
 
Community Engagement 
The continued operation of the Carpenters Project relies on the support of several local contractors and suppliers. In additional to the local support, 
a resident orchard manager will soon relocate to live on the property. The Company acknowledges that to create a valuable and sustainable 
business model, a balance between production, employment, responsible use of land and water, and financial return must be developed. To this 
end, the Company recognises that to earn the support of the community, the community must see a positive contribution and connection from 
the Company back to individuals in the Community. Alterra remains committed to creating opportunities for locals as the Carpenters Project 
continues to grow in the future.  
 
Safety 
There were no reportable incidents during the year (LTIFR – zero).  The team has initiated the annual review of operational procedures to ensure 
that a well-trained workforce is prepared to operate safely in the upcoming season. 
 
 
 Avocado Market Outlook 
The 2024/25 market is positive.  Many local suppliers are expecting high yields of fruit which may see an oversupply of fruit at points in the season 
and consequently pricing at those times my decrease.  The importance therefore of export and alternate markets remains at the forefront of the 
Company’s strategy and careful monitoring of the timing of harvesting will be critical to obtain maximum pricing.  The company successfully 
implemented this strategy in the current year with an early harvest. 
  
 ESG Commitment and Framework 
Alterra remains committed to delivering a positive social and economic impact from the Carpenters Project. As part of this commitment, Alterra is 
targeting five sustainability goals modelled off the United Nations global goals. These goals allow the Company to measure its contribution to the 
community and responsible use of resources in the regions in which it operates.  
  
The goals targeted are: 
  

• Zero Hunger: create sustainable food production systems that strengthen industry resilience against climate change, extreme weather 
events and drought through the use of methodologies that improve land and soil quality.  

• Clean Water: substantially increase water storage to reduce stress on existing freshwater resources and improve water-use efficiencies 
across the development. In addition, support and strengthen the Company’s participation in local communities to improve water 
management.  

• Economic Growth: Support local businesses wherever possible through local contracts, employment, and seasonal labour hire in the 
community. Ensure Alterra’s operations contribute positively to the local economy. Implement best practice frameworks to ensure the 
safety of its local employees and seasonal staff. 

• Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure: Enhance scientific research, upgrade the technological capabilities of industrial sectors and 
encourage innovation in avocado growing methodology. Adopt and apply practices from other horticultural sectors to avocados to 
improve growing techniques and water efficiencies.  

• Responsible Consumption and Production: Ensure responsible and sustainable management of natural resources, notably water.  

  
Carbon Conscious Investments Limited (‘CCIL’) 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS  

Alterra sold it’s interest on CCIL on 5 July 2024 and the company received proceeds of $1.74m 
  
Financial Result  
The Company reported an operating loss of $956K (2023: $2.24M) which reflected increased revenue from avocado sales and a reduction in 
overheads. Cash outflows on development costs were in excess of $2.082M (2023: $3.567M) excluding employee costs.   The net assets of the 
Company increased to $10.61M (2023: $10.34M ).   
  
  
Gregory Harvey 
Executive Director 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  

Your directors submit the annual financial report of Alterra Limited (hereafter referred to as the “Company”) and the entity it controls (hereafter 
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 30 September 2024. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the 
directors’ report is as follows: 
 

Directors 
The names of directors who held office during or since the end of the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows.  Directors were 
in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated below. 
 
 
PAUL JENSEN (Non-Executive Chairman) (appointed 12 December 23) 
ANDREW YOUNG (Non-Executive Director) (appointed 12 December 23) 
GREGORY HARVEY (Executive Director)  
MARK CLEMENTS (Non-Executive Chairman) (resigned 12 December 23) 
JOHN PALERMO (Non-Executive Director) (resigned 12 December 23) 
 

Information on Directors 
 
 
GREGORY HARVEY (EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR) 
Greg Harvey is a highly experienced and insightful investor and executive with more than 25 years’ acumen in the international agribusiness sector. 
Greg is the Managing Director and Chief Executive of a leading Western Australian based agribusiness, PenAgri Group Pty Ltd. Greg’s previous roles 
includes being the MD/CEO of the Harvest Road Group, and the MD/CEO of the Interflour Group Pte Ltd based in Singapore. Greg is a non-executive 
director of D'Orsogna Limited, a non-executive director of Carbon Conscious Investments Limited, and a director of Agora Livestock Pty Ltd.  He is 
a graduate of the University of Western Australia, Monash University and INSEAD, and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
He has had no other directorships of ASX listed companies in the last 3 years. 
 
PAUL JENSEN (NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN) 
Mr Jensen is an accomplished director, having served as an executive and non-executive director for over 20 years on ASX listed and unlisted 
boards, with extensive experience across a range of sectors.  Mr Jensen is also a Director of Carbon Conscious Investment Limited, Bubs Australia 
Limited, Australian Made Campaign Limited, and the Watarrka Foundation Limited. Qualifications include a Commerce and Administration 
(Accounting and Commercial Law) from Victoria University Wellington and he is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

ANDREW YOUNG (NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR) 
Mr Young is an accomplished director, having served as an executive and non-executive director for over 25 years  within leading agribusinesses 
In Australia and South East Asia.  Mr Young is the  Chair of Grains Australia Limited and Plum Grove Pty Ltd.  Mr Young is a graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors, and completed the Advanced Management Program at INSEAD business. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

Interests in the Shares and Options of the Company  
The following relevant interests in shares and options of the Company or a related body corporate were held by the directors as at the date of this 
report. 

Directors Number of fully paid ordinary shares Number of options 

Greg Harvey 34,988 - 

Paul Jensen - - 

Andrew Young - - 

Details of unissued ordinary shares under options are nil.  20,000,000 options expired 9 December 2023. Ordinary shares were consolidated on a 
1:10000 basis on 6 December 2024. 

 
The directors as at the time of this report do not hold any performance rights.  The Company has 2million performance rights on issue at the time 
of this report.  During the period 6.5 million performance rights expired. 
 
For further details regarding options and performance rights refer Note 19. 
 

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers 
The Company has agreed to indemnify all Members of the Board of Directors of the Company for any liabilities to another person (other than the 
Company or related body corporate) that may arise from their position as directors of the Company, except where the liability arises out of conduct 
involving an actual or alleged breach or professional duty, other than a failure to manage or supervise such professional services. 
 

Principal Activities 
Alterra is a horticultural project developer, currently focused on the development of its Carpenters avocado project in Western Australia.  
 

Dividends 
No dividends have been paid or declared for the year ended 30 September 2024. The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in 
respect of the year ended 30 September 2024.  
 

Likely developments and expected results of operations 
The Carpenters project is a long dated asset and the results of future operations are dependent on final investment decisions which have not yet 
been made.  Accordingly expected results of those operations cannot be determined and are therefore likely to unreasonably prejudice the 
company. 

 
Environmental regulation 
The Company’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of the Commonwealth or of a state or 
territory. 
 

Operating Results for the Year 
The loss of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2024 after providing for income tax amounted to $955,611 (30 September 2023: loss of 
$2,243,466).  
 

Financial Position 
The net assets of the Group have increased by $270,872 from $10,342,990 at 30 September 2023 to $10,613,862 at 30 September 2024.  



 

  Alterra Limited   Annual Report 2024 9 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs that occurred during the year ended 30 September 2024 other than: 

- The sale of the company’s interest in Carbon Conscious Investments Limited 
 

Significant Events after Balance Date  
The following significant events occurred after the year ended 30 September 2024: 

- On 30 September 2024, 6.5m performance rights expired 
- On 1 December 2024, 23,690 $100 convertible notes were issued  
- On 6 December 2024, the share capital of the company was consolidated on a 1:10,000 basis 

 

Material Business Risks  
The key material business risks associated with the Company include; 

- Climate risk 
- Plant and Crop quality 
- Human resources  
- Intellectual Property  
- Information technology 
- Fraud, Theft, Bribery and Corruption 
- Legal and regulatory 
- Liquidity and Capital  

 

Climate Change Risk 
The Group‘s strategy is to build commercial, climate resilient land and water assets that drive sustainable growth and leave a positive social, 
environmental and economic legacy, and is dedicated to managing the effects of climate change risks throughout its development activities.  
 
The Group has continued to build on its governance of climate change risk by incorporating strategy and risk management level considerations into 
its management systems.  
 
This culture and framework give effect to a rigorous system of opportunity consideration, project proposal and operations management for all 
assets considered and managed by the Group as it identifies and develops investment-grade agricultural assets. Accordingly, the Group is continuing 
to develop metrics and as part of this is optimising its resource efficiencies at its projects. 
 
Part of Alterra’s model is to create climate resilient agricultural assets by building substantial onsite water infrastructure where properties have 
existing water rights, but insufficient infrastructure. As part of its development feasibility process, the Group uses extensive hydrology modelling 
to predict the reliability of water supply to ensure water security and the long-term climate resilience of its projects. This process includes assessing 
rainfall, runoff records, as well as surface water accessibility and springs rights. The Group also analyses real-time field data on irrigation, as well as 
soil moisture and nutrient levels within different soil types to create best practice frameworks that manage risk, improve production efficiency, 
and optimise cost efficiencies at its current and future developments.  
 
The Group’s ongoing activities include building on relationships with capital markets that have mandates to invest in projects that contribute to 
climate change mitigation and are resilient to climate change, strengthening relationships and activities with industry associations, and working 
constructively with environmental and resource regulators. We believe all markets will be affected by climate change risks as will our customers 
and suppliers and the Group considers these matters along with the physical impacts of climate change when developing its management systems, 
and accordingly it is well informed and positioned to seek out opportunities and mitigate risks. 
 
Plant and Crop Risk 
There is a risk that if the quality of avocado plants are not at the required standard, then plants will fail which has an impact on the development 
of the orchard.  The Company mitigates this risk through having alternative suppliers so that reliance on one supplier is reduced and that quality 
control regimes exist with suppliers.  Suppliers are required to remediate any loss by way of crediting the Company’s cost. 
 
 
Human Resources Risk 
The industry has a risk of availability, capability, and safety with regard to human resources.  Labour planning is a foundational component of 
operational planning to ensure adequate people resources are available, and sufficiently trained and engaged, at the right time, to meet quality 
standards. To manage the risk of insufficient labour, the Company assesses and proactively utilises multiple employment models including labour 
hire organisations.  From a safety perspective, all workers are inducted, trained , and supervised.  Critical safety rules are communicated and 
workers are encouraged and expected to undertake hazard identification and reporting. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

Intellectual Property Risk 
The Group maintains and monitors data relating to it’s project and similar projects through access to technical partner information.  Extensive 
modelling and analysis of this data represents intellectual property that provides the company with a competitive advantage. An inability to protect 
this information would have adverse consequences for the company.  This risk is mitigated through access restriction and execution of contracts 
and deeds relevant to the information. 
 

Information Technology Risk 
The Company relies on IT infrastructure, systems and processes to support the operation and growth of the business. 
 
Should such infrastructure, systems and processes fail or become compromised then there is a risk that sensitive or personally identifiable data is 
accessed or stolen, data is lost, or data and systems are unable to be accessed which may result in reputational damage, legal penalties, and ongoing 
disruptions to operations and competitive advantage. 
 
The Company implements various strategies to mitigate cyber risk across our applications, networks and websites. The Company focuses on 
employee education, network defence, enterprise-wide testing, disaster recovery and the segregation of sensitive data. These strategies are 
internally and externally periodically reviewed, audited, and updated. 
and updated. 
 
Fraud, Theft, Bribery and Corruption Risk 
If staff, contractors, customers or suppliers are involved with fraud, bribery or corruption there could be negative legal, reputational and financial 
outcomes. The company manages its exposure to this risk through policy, training and process. The Company covers expectations with its Code of 
Conduct and employment agreements, has in place a whistleblower policy, an operating internal audit function complemented by procedures 
undertaken by the external auditor, and a suite of mandatory training for employees. 

 

Legal and Regulatory Risk 

A failure to comply with laws or regulations could also have major negative reputational and financial outcomes for the Company.  To mitigate this 
risk, the Company actively engages with appropriate government departments and seeks legal counsel on relevant matters.  The Company also 
ensures appropriately qualified staff monitor compliance. 
 
 

Liquidity and Capital  Risk 
If the Company is unable to access sufficient and desirable funding to meet financial obligations and/or operational and strategic objectives this 
could have material impacts on the Company’s  growth aspirations and ongoing operations. The Group manages its liquidity risk using an ongoing 
cash forecasting model, and maintaining, at all times, an appropriate minimum level of liquidity, comprising committed, unused bank facilities and 
cash resources, to meet the Group’s financial obligations as and when they fall due. 

 
Remuneration Report (Audited) 
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for directors and other key management personnel of Alterra Limited (the 
“Company”). The term ‘executives’ is used in this remuneration report to refer to the following key management personnel. The named person 
held their current position for the year ended 30 September 2024 unless otherwise stated below: 
 
Gregory Harvey (Executive Director)  
Paul Jensen (Non-Executive Chairman) (Appointed 12 December 2023) 
Andrew Young (Non-Executive Director) (Appointed 12 December 2023) 
John Palermo (Non-Executive Director) (Resigned 12 December 2023) 
Mark Clements (Non-Executive Chairman) (Resigned 12 December 2023) 
 

Remuneration Philosophy 
The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of the directors and executives.  The philosophy of the Company in determining 
remuneration levels is to: 

• set competitive remuneration packages to attract and retain high calibre employees; 

• link executive rewards to shareholder value creation; and 

• establish appropriate, demanding performance hurdles for variable executive remuneration. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
The members of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee include non-executive directors Paul Jensen and Andrew Young. The Remuneration 
and Nomination Committee makes recommendations to the full Board on appropriate levels of remuneration within the organisation.  
 

Remuneration Structure 
In accordance with best practice Corporate Governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive remuneration is separate and 
distinct. 
 

Non-Executive Director Remuneration 
The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain directors of the highest 
calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders. The ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive 
directors shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting. The latest determination was at the initial general held on 2 January 2008 
when shareholders approved an aggregate maximum remuneration of $300,000 per year.  
 
The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which it is apportioned amongst directors is 
reviewed annually. The Board considers advice from external stakeholders as well as the fees paid to non-executive directors of comparable 
companies when undertaking the annual review process. Each director receives a fee for being a director of the Company. The payment of 
additional fees for serving on a committee recognises the additional time commitment required by directors who serve on one or more sub 
committees. The remuneration of non-executive directors for the year ended 30 September 2024 is detailed in Table 1. 
 
Executives and Executive Director Remuneration 
Remuneration consists of fixed remuneration and variable remuneration (comprising short-term and long-term incentive schemes). 
 

Fixed Remuneration 
Fixed remuneration is reviewed periodically by the Board. The process consists of a review of relevant comparative remuneration in the market 
and internally and, where appropriate, external advice on policies and practices. The Committee has access to external, independent advice where 
necessary. Executives are given the opportunity to receive their fixed (primary) remuneration in a variety of forms including cash and fringe benefits 
such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans. It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without 
creating undue cost for the Company. 
 
The fixed remuneration component of the Company’s executives is detailed in Table 1. 
 

Variable Remuneration 
The objective of the short-term incentive program is to link the achievement of the Company’s operational targets with the remuneration received 
by the executives charged with meeting those targets. The total potential short-term incentives available are set at a level so as to provide sufficient 
incentive to the senior management team to achieve the operational targets and such that the cost to the Company is reasonable in the 
circumstances. 
 

Link between Performance and Shareholder Wealth  
In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Board has had regard to the following indices in respect of the 
current and previous four financial years: 
 

 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

EPS (cents)  (0.12) (0.32) (0.36) (1.04) (0.99) 0.63 

Dividends (cents per share) - - - - - - 

Net profit / (loss) ($) (955,611) (2,243,466) (1,495,035) (2,220,856) (1,506,547) 931,424 

Share price ($) 0.006 0.008 0.011 0.030 0.047 0.038 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

September 2024 Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
Table 1:  Key Management Personnel remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2024 

 
Primary benefits Post-

employment 
Equity Other Total % 

 
Salary & fees Cash bonuses Superannuation Share-based 

payments 

  
Performance 

related 

Directors  $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

        

Paul Jensen(i) 69,234 - - - - 69,234 0% 

Andrew Young(i) 48,871 - - - - 48,871 0% 

Gregory Harvey  165,000 - - - - 165,000 0% 

Mark Clements (iI) 31,127 - - - - 31,127 0% 

John Palermo (iI) 12,254 - 1,348 - - 13,602 0% 

Total 326,486 - 1,348 - - 327,834  

 

(i) Appointed 12 December 2023. 

(ii) Resigned 12 December 2023 

 
Options Granted as Part of Remuneration September 2024 
No options were issued to Directors and Executives as part of the short-term incentive scheme during the year ended 30 September 2024. 
 
Shares Issued to Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 September 2024 
No shares were issued to Directors and Executives as part of the short-term incentive scheme during the year ended 30 September 2024. 
 

Option Holdings of Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 September 2024 

 

Balance at 
beginning of 

reporting 
period 

Granted as 
remuneration 

Options 
exercised 

Net change 
other 

Balance at 
end of 

reporting 
period 

Vested as at end of reporting 
period 

Exercisable Not 
exercisable 

Directors          

Mark Clements(i) 6,000,000 - (6,000,000) - - - - 

John Palermo(i) 6,000,000 - (6,000,000) - - - - 

Total 12,000,000 - (12,000,000) - - - - 
(i) Resigned 12 December 2023 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

 

Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 September 2024 

 Balance at beginning of 
reporting period 

Granted as 
remuneration  

On exercise of 
options Net change other Balance at end of 

reporting period 

Directors          

Mark Clements(i) 1,200,000 - - (1,200,000) - 

John Palermo(i) 1,920,000 - - (1,920,000) - 

Gregory Harvey(ii) 269,479,473 - - 80,390,473 349,869,946 

Executives      

Total 272,849,473 - - 77,270,473 349,869,946 

(i)Net change amounts to shares held at time of resignation and or disposed  
(ii)Amounts related to shares acquired by a related party. Net change relates to related party participation in capital raising. 

Performance Rights of Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 September 2024 
There were no performance rights carried forward or issued in the current period to Key Management Personnel. 
Loans to Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 September 2024 
There were no loans carried forward or issued in the current period to Key Management Personnel. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

September 2023 Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
Table 1:  Key Management Personnel remuneration for the year ended 30 September 2023 

 
Primary benefits Post-

employment 
Equity Other Total % 

 
Salary & fees Cash bonuses Superannuation Share-based 

payments 

  
Performance 

related 

Directors  $ $ $ $ $ $ % 

        

Gregory Harvey (i) 167,610 - - - - 167,610 0% 

Mark Clements (ii) 130,500 - - 22,687 - 153,187 0% 

John Palermo (iii) 51,923 - 5,514 35,766 - 93,203 0% 

Total 350,033 - 5,514 58,453 - 414,000  

Executives         

Ben Norrish (iv) 339,170 - 34,549 (9,331) - 364,388 0% 

Total 689,203 - 40,063 49,122 - 778,388 0% 

 

(i) Gregory Harvey was an Executive Director for the year. 

(ii) Mark Clements was the Non-Executive Chairman for the year. He also received a fee for the provision of company secretarial services. 

(iii)  John Palermo was a Non-Executive Director for the year.  

(iv)  Ben Norrish was appointed as Chief Operating Officer on 4 March 2022 and left the Company on 31 August 2023. 

 
Options Granted as Part of Remuneration September 2023 
No options were issued to Directors and Executives as part of the short-term incentive scheme during the year ended 30 September 2023. 
 
Shares Issued to Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 September 2023 
No shares were issued to Directors and Executives as part of the short-term incentive scheme during the year ended 30 September 2023. 
 

Option Holdings of Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 September 2023 

 

Balance at 
beginning of 

reporting 
period 

Granted as 
remuneration 

Options 
exercised 

Net change 
other 

Balance at 
end of 

reporting 
period 

Vested as at end of reporting 
period 

Exercisable Not 
exercisable 

Directors          

Mark Clements 6,000,000 - - - - - 6,000,000 

John Palermo 6,000,000 - - - - - 6,000,000 

Ben Norrish(i) 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - - - 

Total 17,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - - 12,000,000 
(ii) Net change amounts to options held at time of resignation and or disposed. 
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The terms and conditions of each grant of options over ordinary shares affecting remuneration of directors and other key management personnel 
in this financial year or future reporting years are as follows: 

Name 

Number of 
options 

granted in 4 
separate 
tranches 

Grant 
date Exercisable date Expiry date Exercise 

price 

Fair value per 
option at 

grant date of 
each tranche 

John Palermo 

2,000,000 

2,000,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

29 January 
2021 

Before 9 December 2023 upon the achievement of the 
vesting conditions outlined in the Appendix 3G 
announcement released to the ASX on 15 February 2021 
are achieved 

9 December 
2023 $0.04 

$0.0210 

$0.0177 

$0.0139 

$0.0110 

Mark Clements 

2,000,000 

2,000,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

25 March 
2022 

Before 9 December 2023 upon the achievement of the 
vesting conditions outlined in the Appendix 3G 
announcement released to the ASX on 25 March 2022 
are achieved 

9 December 
2023 $0.05 

$0.00444 

$0.00376 

$0.00238 

$0.00139 

Ben Norrish 

750,000 

750,000 

1,000,000 

750,000 

750,000 

1,000,000 

25 March 
2022 

Before 25 March 2027 upon the achievement of the 
vesting conditions outlined in the Appendix 3G 
announcement released to the ASX on 25 March 2022 
are achieved 

25 March 
2027 

$0.05 

$0.08 

$0.12 

$0.05 

$0.08 

$0.12 

$0.0105 

$0.0079 

$0.0059 

$0.0109 

$0.0081 

$0.0060 

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. The expense for the year is disclosed in Note 19. 

All options were granted over unissued fully paid ordinary shares in the company. The number of options granted was determined having regard 
to the satisfaction of performance measures and weightings as described above in the section ‘Link between Performance on and Shareholder 
Wealth’. Options vest based on the provision of service over the vesting period whereby the director becomes beneficially entitled to the option 
on vesting date. Options are exercisable by the holder as from the vesting date. There has not been any alteration to the terms or conditions of the 
grant since the grant date. There are no amounts paid or payable by the recipient in relation to the granting of such options other than on their 
potential exercise. 
 

Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 September 2023 

 Balance at beginning of 
reporting period 

Granted as 
remuneration  

On exercise of 
options Net change other Balance at end of 

reporting period 

Directors          

Mark Clements(i) 1,200,000 - - - 1,200,000 

John Palermo(i) 1,920,000 - - - 1,920,000 

Gregory Harvey(ii) 269,479,473 - - - 269,479,473 

Executives      

Ben Norrish(iii) 250,000 - - (250,000) - 

Total 272,849,473 - - (250,000) 272,599,473 

(i)Shares were acquired by Directors / Executives or their related entities both on market and upon participation in the Company’s placement and entitlements offer 
which completed in July 2022.  
(ii)Amounts related to shares acquired by a related party. 
(iii)Net change amounts to shares held at time of resignation and or disposed. 

Performance Rights of Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 September 2023 
There were no performance rights carried forward or issued in the current period to Key Management Personnel. 
Loans to Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 September 2023 
There were no loans carried forward or issued in the current period to Key Management Personnel. 
 

END OF REMUNERATION REPORT 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

Directors’ Meetings 
The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year and the number of meetings attended 
by each director were as follows: 

 Number of Board 
meetings eligible to 

attend 

Remuneration & 
Nomination Committee 

meetings attended 

Audit & Risk Committee 
meetings attended 

Number of meetings 
attended 

 

Paul Jensen 7 0 1 8 

Andrew Young 7 0 1 8 

Gregory Harvey 9 - - 9 

Mark Clements 2 1 1 4 

John Palermo 2 1 1 4 

     

 
Proceedings on Behalf of the Company 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is 
a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company, for all or any part of those proceedings. 
 
The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year ended 30 September 2024. 
 

Auditor Independence and Non-audit Services 
Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires our auditors, Elderton Audit, to provide the directors of the Company with an Independence 
Declaration in relation to the audit of the financial report. This Independence Declaration is set out on page 20 and forms part of this directors’ 
report for the year ended 30 September 2024. 
 

Non-audit Services 
No non-audit services were provided by the external auditors during the year ended 30 September 2024. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 
 

 

 
 
Paul Jensen 
Non-Executive Chairman  
 
Perth, 28 January 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

The Board of Alterra Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs 
of the Company on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 
 
Alterra Limited’s Corporate Governance Statement is structured with reference to the Corporate Governance Council’s principles and 
recommendations as set out by the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th Edition).  
 
The Company’s Corporate Governance Policies for the year ended 30 September 2024 was reviewed and approved by the Board on 28 January 
2025. 
 
The Board is ultimately responsible for all matters relating to the running of the Company and is committed in demonstrating and achieving the 
highest standards of corporate governance. 
 
Alterra Limited’s corporate governance practices were in place throughout the year ended 30 September 2024 and were substantially compliant 
with the Council’s recommendations. 
 
A description of the Company’s current corporate governance statement is available on the Company’s website at www.alterra.com.au. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Name of Entity Type of entity 
Place formed 

or 
incorporated 

Percentage of 
share capital 

held 

Australian or 
Foreign tax 

resident 

Foreign tax 
jurisdiction 

      

Carpenters Beedelup Pty Ltd Body 
Corporate Australia 100% Australian n/a 

 
At the end of the financial year, no entity within the consolidated entity was a trustee of a trust within the consolidated entity, a partner in a 
partnership within the consolidated entity, or a participant in a joint venture within the consolidated entity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

CONSOLIDATED ENTITY STATEMENT 

http://www.alterra.com.au/


Auditor's Independence Declaration 

To those charged with the governance of Alterra Limited 

As auditor for the audit of Alterra Limited for the year ended 30 September 2024, I declare that, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, there have been: 

• no contraventions of the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the
audit; and

• no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Alterra Limited and the entities it controlled during the year. 

Elderton Audit Pty Ltd 

Sajjad Cheema 

Director 

28 January 2025 

Perth 

18
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

  CONSOLIDATED 

 Note 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

  $ $ 

Revenue 2 439,228 122,934 
    

Other income 3 847,883 212,066 

Gain /(Loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 (199) 136 

Operating expenses  (37,310) (3,742) 

Administrative expenses  (878,799) (198,143) 

Consultant and legal fees   (458,094) 

Accounting , audit and tax fees   (243,071) 

Marketing expenses  (4,350) (14,798) 

Business development expenses  (3,100) (1,502) 

Employee benefits expense  (685,258) (1,129,157) 

Occupancy expense  (861) (19,464) 

Financing expenses  (433,031) (233,480) 

Depreciation and amortisation  10,11  (199,811) (222,717) 

Share-based payments  18,19 - (54,434) 

(Loss) before income tax expense  (955,611) (2,243,466) 

Income tax expense  4 - - 

(Loss) attributable to members of the parent entity  (955,611) (2,243,466) 

    

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Other comprehensive income for the year after tax  - - 

    

Total comprehensive (loss) attributable to members of the parent entity  (955,611) (2,243,466) 
    

Basic and diluted (loss) per share ($ per share) 5 (11.61) (32.23) 

Basic and diluted (loss) per share ($ per share) from continuing operations 5 (11.61) (32.23) 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 
  CONSOLIDATED 

 Note  30 September 2024  30 September 2023 
  $ $ 

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 527,025 1,141,927 

Trade and other receivables 8 411,729 48,362 

Other assets 9 80,963 482,958 

Total Current Assets  1,019,717 1,673,247 

    

Non-Current Assets    

Intangible assets 10 85,392 93,259 

Property, plant and equipment 11 16,949,041 14,725,730 

Investment in associates 13 - 1,151,046 

Rights-of-use-assets 14 11,616,071 12,156,722 

Other assets 9 7,347 9,315 

Total Non-Current Assets  28,657,850 28,136,072 

Total Assets  29,677,568 29,809,319 
    

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 15 430,479 637,793 

Lease liabilities 16 469,968 457,061 

Financial liabilities - Borrowings 17 3,700,000 - 

Other financial liabilities 17 241,071 188,753 

Total Current Liabilities  4,841,518 1,283,607 

    

Non-Current Liabilities    

Lease liabilities 16 13,929,679 14,023,190 

Financial liabilities - Borrowings 17 - 3,700,000 

Other financial liabilities 17 292,509 459,532 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  14,222,188 18,182,722 

Total Liabilities  19,063,706 19,466,329 
    

Net Assets  10,613,862 10,342,990 
    

Equity    

Issued capital 18 20,951,579 19,725,096 

Reserves 18 - 1,586,149 

Accumulated losses  (10,337,717) (10,968,255) 

Total Equity  10,613,862 10,342,990 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  Inflows /(Outflows) Inflows /(Outflows) 

 Note 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

  $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers and government subsidies  227,834 1,032,632 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (1,355,807) (1,562,193) 

Interest received  3,742 13,393 

Interest paid  (433,032) (231,381) 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 23 (1,557,263) (747,549) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (337,525 (894,242) 

Proceeds from the sale of plant and equipment and investments  1,843,015 - 

Payments for development assets  (2,082,634) (2,931,932) 

Dividends received  - 263,202 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (577,145) (3,562,972) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from the issue of shares (net of capital raising costs)  1,226,483 (1,375) 

Receipt of loans from related parties  - - 

Bank loan drawdowns and borrowings     23 - 3,700,000 

Debt service repayments held on deposit      17 - (352,240) 

Repayments of finance leases     23 293,024 (239,769) 

Net cash provided by financing activities  1,519,507 3,106,616 

    

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (614,901) (1,203,905) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  1,141,927 2,345,832 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 527,026 1,141,927 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 Issued capital Share-based 
payment reserve 

 Accumulated losses Total 

 $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 October 2023 19,725,096 1,586,149 (10,968,255) 10,342,990 

Loss attributable to members - - (955,611) (955,611) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (955,611) (955,611) 

Share-based payments - (1,586,149) 1,586,149 - 

Shares issued during the year 1,393,105 - - 1,393,105 

Share buy back (51,265) - - (51,265) 

Capital raising costs (115,357) - - (115,357) 

Balance at 30 September 2024 20,951,579 - (10,377,717) 10,613,862 

     

Balance at 1 October 2022 19,715,471 1,542,715 (8,724,789) 12,533,397 

Loss attributable to members - - (2,243,466) (2,243,466) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (2,243,466) (2,243,466) 

Share-based payments - 54,434 - 54,434 

Conversion of performance rights 11,000 (11,000) - - 

Capital raising costs (1,375) - - (1,375) 

Balance at 30 September 2023 19,725,096 1,586,149 (10,968,255) 10,342,990 

 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

The consolidated financial statements and notes represent those of Alterra Limited and its controlled entity (the “Group”). For the purposes of 
preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group is a for-profit entity.  
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue on 28 January 2025 by the directors of the Company. 
 
(a) Basis of Preparation 

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations and complies with other requirements of the law.  

 
The financial report of Alterra Limited complies with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in their 
entirety. Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes thereto, complies with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 
The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical costs modified by the revaluation of selected financial 
assets for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied. 
 
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal business activities and the 
realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. Accounting policies have been consistently applied to all 
years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 

(b) Principles of Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all entities controlled by Alterra Limited as at 30 September 
2024 and the results of it’s controlled entity for the year then ended. A controlled entity is any entity over which Alterra Limited has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing the power to govern, the existence 
and effect of holdings of actual and potential voting rights are considered. 
 
Where controlled entities have entered / (left) the Group during the year, their operating results have been included / (excluded) from the 
date control was obtained / (ceased). A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 20 to the financial statements. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-group balances and transactions between entities in the Group, including any 
unrealised profits or losses, have been eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary 
to ensure consistency with those adopted by the parent entity. 
 

(c) Income Tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance date. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except when the deferred income tax liability arises from 
the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or when the taxable temporary difference is associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward 
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or when the deductible temporary difference is associated with 
investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income 
tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(c) Income Tax (continued) 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance date. Income taxes 
relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
 
The Company and its wholly owned Australian entities are part of a tax-consolidated group. As a consequence, all members of the tax-
consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is Alterra Limited. 
 

(d) Bearer Plants 
There is one main type of bearer plant held by Alterra Limited – tree plantations. 
 
Tree Plantations 
 
Bearer plants consisting of trees and seeds are measured on initial recognition at cost.   

 
Cost comprises all production, acquisition and conversion costs.  At the end of each period, bearer plant cost is evaluated based on the 
recoverable amount and current market pricing to determine whether any write down is appropriate.  Recoverable amount is the higher of 
value in use and fair value less the cost of disposal. To the extent that any impairment arises, losses are recognised in the period they occur.   
Bearer plants are included in capitalized work in progress and are recognised  as a separate asset  2 years after initial fruiting ( once the tree 
is mature). 
Trees and leasehold improvements are recorded as capitalised work in progress (property). Bearer plants are depreciated once they are in 
the location and condition necessary to operate in the manner intended by management. 

 

(e) Investment Property 
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and / or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are measured initially at 
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost less any impairment losses.  
 

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such cost includes the cost 
of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when each major inspection is 
performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation.  
 
Land is measured at cost, less any impairment losses recognised after the date of recognition. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the diminishing value method or straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows: 

• Plant and equipment - 7.5% to 37.5% diminishing value 

• Leasehold improvements - 6.6% to 50% straight line 

• Motor vehicles - 13% to 30% diminishing value 

• Bearer plants - 3% to 5% straight line 
 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end. 

(i) Impairment 

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the recoverable amount 
being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
 
The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
 
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs, unless the asset’s value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair value. An impairment exists when the 
carrying value of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then 
written down to its recoverable amount. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
For land, plant and equipment, impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the other expenses line item. 
 
(ii) Derecognition and Disposal 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. 
 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 
 

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position. 
 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. 

 

(h) Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset 
and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled 
or expires. 

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets 

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the transaction price in 
accordance with AASB 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 
 
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are 
classified into the following categories: 

• amortised cost 

• fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

• equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

• debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, finance income 
or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within other expenses. 
 
The classification is determined by both: 

• the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset 

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, finance income 
or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within other expenses. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(h) Financial Instruments (continued) 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets 

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost as the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL): 

• they are held with the objective to hold the financial assets to collect its contractual cash flows 

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

 
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.  
 

Impairment of financial assets 

AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected credit losses – the ‘expected credit loss 
(ECL) model’.  
 
Instruments within the scope of the requirements included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, 
trade receivables, contract assets recognised and measured under AASB 15 and loan commitments and some financial guarantee contracts 
(for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Recognition of credit losses is not dependent on the Group first identifying a credit loss event. Instead, the Group considers a broader range 
of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. 
 
12-month expected credit losses are recognised for financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial 
recognition or that have low credit risk while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are recognised for financial instruments that have deteriorated 
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is not low. 
 
Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the 
financial instrument. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such 
assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and 
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 
 
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices 
at the close of business on the balance date. For investments with no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such 
techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current market value of another instrument that is 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(i) Leases 
 
Right-of-Use Assets 

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which comprises the 
initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date net of any 
lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected 
to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the asset, 
whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is 
over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
 
The Group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with terms of 12 months 
or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Lease Liabilities 

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease 
payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a 
purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
  
Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are remeasured if there is a change 
in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a rate used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase 
option and termination penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down.  Lease options to extend are not recognised until either 
the option has been exercised or management have resolved to exercise the option. 
 

(j) Trade and Other Receivables  
Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, less provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within periods ranging from 7 days 
to 30 days. 
 
Impairment of trade receivables is continually reviewed and those that are considered to be uncollectible are written off by reducing the 
carrying amount directly.  An allowance account is used when there is an expectation that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original contractual terms. Factors considered by the Group in making this determination include known significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, review of financial information and significant delinquency in making contractual payments to the 
Company. The impairment allowance is set equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the receivable and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Where receivables are short-term discounting is not applied in 
determining the allowance.  
 
The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within other expenses. When a trade receivable 
for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance 
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 

 
(k) Impairment of Assets 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when 
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value in use cannot be 
estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs. 
When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(k) Impairment of Assets (continued) 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses relating to continuing operations 
are recognised in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at revalued amount 
(in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease). An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether 
there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the 
asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless 
the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal the depreciation 
charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its 
remaining useful life. 
 
The Company has performed impairment testing based on fair value less costs of disposal methodology for the Carpenters project and it’s 
cash generating unit.  The company has utilised present value detailed income and expenditure modelling and feasibility modelling under 
varying scenarios to the underlying assumptions. No impairment is indicated. 
 

(l) Functional and Presentation Currency 
The functional currency of each of the companies in the Group is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
that company operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and 
presentation currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. 
Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to 
be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate 
at the date when fair values were determined. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except where 
deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the extent that the gain or loss is 
directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Group companies 

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Group’s presentation currency are 
translated as follows: 

• assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period; 

• income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and 

• retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. 
 
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group’s foreign currency translation reserve 
in the statement of financial position. These differences are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the 
operation is disposed. 

 

(m) Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred except those that relate to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets where the borrowing cost is added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
(n) Revenue Recognition 

• Asset management fees - Fees in relation to asset management are recognised over time as the Group satisfies the related 
performance obligation. 

• Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 

• Lease income - Lease income from investment properties is recognised on a straight‐line basis over the lease term. 

• Avocado sales are recognised at the time of sale. 

 
(o) Other Taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

• when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and  

• receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement 
of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 
 

(p) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. 
 
When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in 
the statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement. 
 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the 
liability.  When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost. 

 

(q) Trade and Other Payables 
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior 
to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the 
purchase of these goods and services. 

 
(r) Employee Leave Benefits 

(i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. 
They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are 
recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable.  

(ii) Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and period of service. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

(s) Share-based Payment Transactions 

(i) Equity settled transactions 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Group in the form of share-based payments, whereby 
employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions). To provide these benefits, the 
Group currently has in place an Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), which provides benefits to directors and senior executives. The 
ESOP was approved by shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 28 February 2018. The Company subsequently 
replaced its ESOP with a Long-Term Incentive Plan for employees approved at the 2022 Annual General Meeting. 
 
The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at 
the date at which they are granted. The fair value of options is determined using an appropriate option pricing model. 

 
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of 
the shares of Alterra Limited (market conditions) if applicable. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 
performance and / or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the 
award (the vesting period). 

 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 
No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in 
the determination of fair value at grant date. The statement of comprehensive income charge or credit for a period represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. 
 
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional upon a market 
condition. 
 
If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In 
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or 
is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification. 
 
If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised 
for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a 
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original 
award, as described in the previous paragraph. 
 
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share (see 
Note 5). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(t) Issued Capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

 

(u) Earnings per Share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit / loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing 
equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any 
bonus element. 
 
Diluted earnings per share are calculated as net profit / loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for: 

• costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends; 

• the after-tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as expenses; 
and 

• other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential Ordinary 
Shares; divided by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares and dilutive potential Ordinary Shares, adjusted for any bonus 
element. 
 

(v) Comparatives 
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current 
financial year. 

 

(w) Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

(i) Share-based payment transactions 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date 
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using a valuation model, using the assumptions detailed in Note 19. 

(ii) Carpenters Project under development 

The Group has capitalised development costs in relation to its Carpenters Project as a capital works in progress asset not yet ready for 
use. These costs are assessed for indicators of impairment. They are considered to be property, plant and equipment in nature. 
 

(x) Segment Reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the executive and other members of the 
Board. Reportable segments are consistent with operating segments. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(y) Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of 
the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.  In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw 
down occurs.  To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised 
as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates. 
 
Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expired.  The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and 
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or 
finance costs.  
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. 
 

(z) Parent Entity Financial Information 
The financial information for the parent entity, Alterra Limited, disclosed in Note 26 has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated 
financial statements, except as set out below. 

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities 

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for on an equity accounting method in the financial 
statements of Alterra Limited.  Dividends received from associates are deducted from the carrying amount of these investments, rather 
than recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss. 

(ii) Share-based payments 

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated 
as a capital contribution to that subsidiary undertaking.  The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the 
grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding 
credit to equity. 

 

(aa) Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately 

Intangible assets acquired separately are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is charged on a 
systematic basis over their estimated useful lives which reflect the pattern in which the intangible asset’s future economic benefits are 
expected to be consumed by the entity. The estimated useful life and amortisation method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting 
period, with any changes in these accounting estimates being accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 

 Internally generated intangible assets – research and development expenditure 

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Where no internally generated intangible 
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period as incurred. 

 Impairment assessments 

Irrespective of impairment indicators, management tests intangible assets not yet ready for use or with indefinite useful lives for impairment 
annually by comparing the asset’s carrying amount with its recoverable amount, either individually or as part of the relevant cash generating 
unit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(ab) Adoption of new and revised standards 

Standards and Interpretations applicable to 30 September 2024: 

In the year ended 30 September 2024, the Directors have reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
AASB that are relevant to the Company and effective for the current reporting period. There is no material impact of the new and revised 
Standards and Interpretations on the Company and therefore, no material change is necessary to Group accounting policies. 

Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted 

The Directors have also reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted for the period ended 30 
September 2024. As a result of this review, the Directors have determined that there is no material impact of the Standards and 
Interpretations in issue not yet adopted on the Group and, therefore, no change is necessary to Group accounting policies. 
 

(ac)  Going Concern 
This financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business activities and the 
realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.  The Group has incurred a loss for the year ending 30 
September 2024 of $955,611 (30 September 2023: loss on continuing activities of $2,243,466) and net cash outflows from operating and 
investing activities of $2,134,408 (30 September 2023: net cash outflows of $4,310,521). At 30 September 2024, the group had $527,026 of 
cash and cash equivalents (2023: $1,141,967). 
 
The Company’s development plan for Carpenters includes a proposed planting of Stage 4 dependent on a final investment decision subject 
to routine commercial considerations. The Company does have a need to complete a capital raising in the near term to ensure it has sufficient 
cash reserves to continue on a going concern basis even in the event further development does not proceed. Given the long dated nature of 
orchard yield and uncertain economic conditions there is material uncertainty as to whether the Company could continue as a going concern 
under the forecast development plan if funding was not available from capital and debt markets.  The Board continues to monitor available 
capital and development plans accordingly given additional equity or debt funding if required based on projected cashflows.  
 
The Directors believe that the going concern basis is appropriate for the following reasons; 
  
• The Company has raised funding via convertible notes of $2.369m.  
• The company has a history of capital raising with firm participation commitments from the major shareholders of the Company as has 

been done previously.   
• The Company is seeking to introduce a strategic investor at the asset level to assist with the ongoing cashflow requirements of the 

Carpenters Project and its future growth plans. 
• The company has delisted and reduced corporate costs 
• In addition, the Group’s assets exceed it liabilities by $10.6m 
• The Company successfully secured debt funding from NAB who has indicated a willingness to provide further funding for stage 4 and 

to extend the existing facility; 
 
The Directors believe that the above indicators demonstrate the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable 
and continue as a going concern.  Should the Group not be successful in generating sufficient funds from the above initiatives there will exist 
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern and, therefore, whether it 
will be able to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report.  
The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded assets and liabilities that 
might exist be necessary should it not continue as a going concern.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 2: REVENUE 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Revenue   

Avocado Sales 354,507 - 

Asset management fees 9,343 41,252 

Interest received 3,742 13,393 

Other income 71,635 68,289 

 439,227 122,934 

The Group derives its revenue from the sale of avocados and  provision of services at a point in time and over time in the following major categories. 
These services were largely provided to Carbon Conscious Investments Limited which will no longer continue following the sale of the entity. All 
revenues are derived in Australia. This is consistent with the revenue information that is disclosed for each reportable segment under AASB 8, refer 
Note 6. 
 
Other income represents performance guarantee income and recovery of costs incurred on behalf of CCIL. 
 

 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Over time   

Avocado sales 354,507 - 

Asset management fees 9,343 41,252 

Interest received 3,742 13,393 

Other income 71,635 68,289 

Total revenue 439,227 122,934 

Segment revenues represent revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-segment revenues in the current period. 
 

NOTE 3: OTHER INCOME & EXPENSE 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Other Income   

Research and Development Tax Incentive  - - 

Share of profit of associates 110,352 196,204 

Other income 45,365 15,862 

Gain on sale of assets 691,968 - 

 847,685 212,066 

 
Other income represents miscellaneous income including gains on sale of assets. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 4:  INCOME TAX 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Current Tax liability   

Current year - - 

Effect of this year’s timing differences - - 

Total current tax    - - 

   

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss - - 

Total income tax expense recognised in profit or loss - - 

   

Numerical reconciliation between tax-expense and pre-tax net growth   

Accounting (loss) before tax from continuing operations (955,611) (2,243,466) 

Profit before tax from discontinued operations - - 

Accounting (loss) before income tax (955,611) (2,243,466) 

Income tax using the domestic tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%) (238,903) (560,866) 

Non-assessable income 3,384 68,221 

Non deductible expenses 105,152 248,106 

Research and development expenditure recognised in the profit and loss - - 

Other taxable amounts - 21,933 

Decline for value in depreciating assets (473,002) (763,735) 

Section 40-880 deduction (29,328) (33,454) 

Other income not included in assessable income  (30,008) (49,085) 

Other deductible expenses (145,144) (131,434) 

Other gains 173,008  

Conversion of excess franking credits - (87,734) 

Income tax expense  - - 

Deferred Tax Asset reconciliation   

Deferred tax loss (634,841) (1,288,048) 

Opening carried forward deferred tax benefit  (adjusted for change in tax rate) (4,456,447) (2,353,192) 

Under estimation of loss in prior year 168,916 (815,207) 

Closing carried forward deferred tax benefit (4,922,372) (4,456,447) 

Unrecognised deferred tax asset 4,922,372 4,456,477 

   

Carried forward tax losses 19,689,490 17,825,788 

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income - - 

Income tax expense for discontinued operations - - 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

 
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 4:  INCOME TAX (continued) 

Alterra Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries in Australia are a consolidated tax group as defined under the tax consolidation legislation. As a 
consequence, all members of the tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is Alterra 
Limited. All deferred tax balances relate to continuing operations within Australia. 
 
There are no material deferred tax asset or liability amounts other than tax losses. The unrecognised deferred tax asset of $4,922,372 on unused 
tax losses of $19,689,490 is not recognised until it is plausible that future taxable profits will be available against which that asset can be utilised. 
Additionally, there has been no assessment performed over the availability of tax losses. As such, in order to utilise these losses the Group must 
satisfy either the continuity of ownership or similar business test. 
 

NOTE 5: EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

 $ per share $ per share 

Basic and diluted (loss) / earnings per share (11.61) (32.23) 

Basic and diluted (loss) per share (Continuing Operations) (11.61) (32.23) 

The earnings and weighted average number of Ordinary Shares used in the calculation 
of basic earnings per share is as follows:   

   

Loss for the year (955,611) (2,243,466) 

Loss for the year (Continued Operations) (955,611) (2,243,466) 

   

 No. No. 

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the year used in 
calculating basic EPS 82,412 69,610 

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares (diluted) outstanding during the year 
used in calculating diluted EPS 82,412 69,610 

 

 

Please note that the basic and diluted loss per share to the ordinary equity holders is calculated based on the equivalent consolidated number of 
shares on issue at 30 September 2024 (the consolidated balances have been applied  retrospectively to the  2023 comparatives).  For information 
on the consolidation of equity securities please refer to  Note 29: Events After Balance Date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 
 

NOTE 6:  SEGMENT REPORTING  

The segment reporting reflects the current operations as follows: 

• Asset Management – relates to the management of operating assets including the contract to manage the demerged Carbon Business; 

• Asset Development – relates to assets owned or being developed by the Company; 

• Business Development – relates to the development of potential assets 

• Corporate – relates to corporate activities. 
 
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured on net profit / loss before taxation as 
detailed in the management reports presented to the Board of Directors. 
 

Major Customers 
The Group had one (2023: nil) customers to whom it provided goods and services where the revenue from this customer was in excess of 10% of 
the Group’s revenue for the year ended 30 September 2024.   

 

12 months ended 30 September 2024 Asset 
management 

Asset 
development Corporate Consolidated 

 $ $ $ $ 

Revenue     

Fees from external customers 363,850 - 75,377 439,227 

Total segment revenue 363,850 - 75,377 439,277 
     

Other income     

Gain on sale of equipment - - 692,168 692,168 

Other revenues from external 
customers - - 155,515 155,515 

Total other segment income - - 847,683 847,683 

     

Expenses     

Direct Costs 32,405 - - 32,405 

Interest expense   433,031 433,031 

Depreciation and amortisation   199,811 199,811 

Other costs   1,577,273 1,577,273 

Total segment expenses 32,405 - 2,210,116 2,242,522 

Net loss before tax     

Income tax expense - - - - 

Net loss after tax from continuing 
operations 331,444 - (1,287,055) (955,611) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

NOTE 6:  SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 

 

12 months ended 30 September 2024 Asset 
management 

Asset 
development Corporate Consolidated 

 $ $ $ $ 
     

Segment assets     

Current assets - 431,875 587,842 1,019,717 
Non-current assets - 27,996,697 661,154 28,657,850 

Total segment assets - 28,428,572 1,248,996 29,677,568 
     

Segment liabilities     

Current liabilities - 777,688 363,830 1,141,518 

Non-current liabilities - 13,911,912 4,010,276 17,922,188 

Total segment liabilities - 14,689,599 4,374,106 19,063,706 

Net segment assets - 13,738,972 (3,125,110) 10,613,861 

     

     

Cash flow information     

Net cash flow from operating activities (39,500) - (1,870,003) (1,909,503) 

Net cash flow from investing activities  (2,082,634) 1,505,489 (577,145) 

Net cash flow from financing activities   1,519,507 1,519,507 

Intersegment transfers  2,082,634 (2,082,634) - 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash (39,500) - (575,401) (614,901) 

Cash at beginning of year 265,783 - 876,144 1,141,927 

Cash at end of year 226,282 - 300,744 527,026 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 6:  SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 

12 months ended 30 September 2023 Asset 
management 

Asset 
development Corporate Consolidated 

 $ $ $ $ 

Revenue     

Fees from external customers 41,252 - 81,682 122,934 

Total segment revenue 41,252 - 81,682 122,934 
     

Other income     

Gain on sale of equipment - - 136 136 

Other revenues from external 
customers - - 212,066 212,066 

Total other segment income - - 212,202 212,202 
     

Expenses     

Direct Costs 10,000 - - 10,000 

Interest expense - - 233,481 233,481 

Depreciation and amortisation - - 222,717 222,717 

Other costs - - 2,112,404 2,112,404 

Total segment expenses 10,000 - 2,568,602 2,578,602 

Net loss before tax 31,252 - 2,274,718 2,243,466 

Income tax expense - - - - 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 6:  SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 

 

12 months ended 30 September 2023 Asset 
management 

Asset 
development Corporate Consolidated 

 $ $ $ $ 
     

Segment assets     

Current assets - 58,994 1,614,253 1,673,247 

Non-current assets - 26,121,729 2,014,343 28,136,072 

Total segment assets - 26,180,723 3,628,596 29,809,319 
     

Segment liabilities     

Current liabilities - 896,384 387,223 1,283,607 

Non-current liabilities - 13,990,718 4,192,004 18,182,722 

Total segment liabilities - 14,887,102 4,579,227 19,466,329 

Net segment assets - 11,293,621 (950,631) 10,342,990 

     

     

Cash flow information     

Net cash flow from operating activities 31,252 - (778,801) (747,549) 

Net cash flow from investing activities - (2,931,932) (631,040) (3,562,972) 

Net cash flow from financing activities - - 3,106,616 3,106,616 

Intersegment transfers - 2,931,932 (2,931,932) - 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 31,252 - (1,235,157) (1,203,905) 

Cash at beginning of year 234,531 - 2,111,301 2,345,832 

Cash at end of year 265,783 - 876,144 1,141,927 

 
 

NOTE 7: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Cash at bank and on hand  527,026 1,141,927 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  Refer Note 17. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 8: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Current   

Accrued income - - 

Trade debtors 370,945 - 

GST receivable 40,784 48,362 

 411,729 48,362 

 
At the 30 September, the ageing analysis of trade and other receivables is as follows: 

0 – 30 days 411,729 48,362 

31 – 60 days - - 

Total 411,729 48,362 

There are no expected credit losses. 

 

NOTE 9: OTHER ASSETS 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

Current $ $ 

Debt Service payments held on deposit - 352,240 

Unsecured loans to third parties 609 - 

Prepayments 80,354 130,718 

 80,963 482,958 

Non – Current   

Other 7,347 9,315 

 7,347 9,315 

 
Unsecured loans to third parties relate to costs incurred under the terms of the Carpenters Project lease agreement.   There is uncertainty about 
the recoverability of this loan and it was therefore impaired fully during the period and accordingly the costs were capitalised to  Carpenters Work 
in Progress (notes 11 and 12).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 10: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 Avocado genetics and data asset 

 $ 

Cost  

  

Balance at 1 October 2022 118,000 

Original cost - 

Impairment of intangible - 

Balance at 30 September 2023 118,000 

  

Balance at 1 October 2023 118,000 

Original cost - 

Impairment of intangible - 

Balance at 30 September 2024 118,000 

  

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses  

  

Balance at 1 October 2022 16,875 

Amortisation for the period 7,866 

Impairment of intangible - 

Balance at 30 September 2023 24,741 

  

Balance at 1 October 2023 24,741 

Amortisation for the period 7,866 

Impairment of intangible - 

Balance at 30 September 2024 32,627 

  

Carrying amounts  

At 30 September 2023 93,259 

At 30 September 2024 85,373 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
 Capitalised Work 

in Progress 
(Property) 

Plant & equipment Motor  
vehicles Total 

 Note $ $ $ $ 

12 months ended 30 September 2023      

Cost  5,443,525 4,474,564 507,015 10,425,104 

Accumulated depreciation  - (179,802) (106,259) (286,061) 

As at 1 Oct 2022, net of accumulated 
depreciation 

  
5,443,525 

 
4,294,762 

 
400,756 

 
10,139,043 

Additions  3,590,613 1,211,061 - 4,801,674 

Disposals  - (136) - (136) 

Capitalised depreciation  42,770 (42,770) - - 

Depreciation charge for the year  - (124,681) (90,170) (214,851) 

At 30 Sept 2023 net of accumulated 
depreciation 12 

 
9,076,908 

 
5,338,236 

 
310,586 

 
14,725,730 

      

12 months ended 30 September 2024      

Cost  9,076,908 5,685,489 507,015 15,269,412 

Accumulated depreciation  - (347,253) (196,429) (543,682) 

As at 1 Oct 2023, net of accumulated 
depreciation 

  
9,076,908 

 
5,338,236 

 
310,586 

 
14,725,730 

Additions  2,077,730 373,561 - 2,451,291 

Disposals  - (4,286) (976) (5,262) 

Capitalised depreciation  67,705 (67,705) - - 

Depreciation charge for the year  - (153,030) (69,688) (222,717) 

At 30 Sept 2024 net of accumulated 
depreciation 12 11,222,343 5,486,776 239,922 16,949,041 

      

At 30 September 2023      

Cost  9,076,908 5,685,489 507,015 15,269,412 

Accumulated depreciation  - (347,253) (196,429) (543,682) 

Net carrying amount  9,076,908 5,338,236 310,586 14,725,730 

      

At 30 September 2024      

Cost  11,222,343 6,054,764 506,039 17,783,146 

Accumulated depreciation  - (567,988) (266,117) (834,105) 

Net carrying amount  11,222,343 5,486,776 239,922 16,949,041 

The written down value of assets used to secure hire purchase loans is $697,451. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 12: CARPENTERS PROJECT UNDER DEVELOPMENT 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

   

Carpenters Beedelup Pty Ltd – Capitalised work in progress 11,222,343 9,076,908 

 11,222,343 9,076,908 

 
The capitalised work in progress (property) of $11,222,343 (2023: $9,076,908) relate solely to expenditures incurred by Alterra’s wholly owned 
subsidiary, Carpenters Beedelup Pty Ltd, on the development of the Company’s Carpenters Project in Beedelup. These expenditures include various 
tangible and intangible items (including capitalised bearer plants) required to be invested to support Stage 1, Stage 2, and Stage 3 development 
and planting of avocado trees. Costs continue to be capitalised in respect of the development of the site as the crop is considered early stage and 
cannot yet be fair valued. Bearer trees are recognised as a separate asset  2 years after initial fruiting ( once the tree is mature) and then measured 
at fair value. 
Trees and leasehold improvements are recorded as capitalised work in progress (property). Infrastructure items will also be recognised as a separate 
asset once the project is complete. 
 
The Project has been assessed for impairment utilising assumptions that include sensitivities. Discounted cashflow modelling and independent 
valuations have been performed to further determine if impairment is required. Based on this assessment, no impairment is required. 
 

NOTE 13: INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Investments in associate  - 1,151,046 

 - 1,151,046 

 
Investment Associate 
Details of the Group's material associate at the end of the reporting period is as follows: 

 Principal activity Country of 
incorporation 

Ownership interest Equity accounted value 

2024 2023 2023 2023 

% % $ $ 

Carbon Conscious 
Investments Ltd 

Management of agri-forestry 
estates for carbon sequestration 
on behalf of clients 

Australia - 15 - 1,151,046 

 
The Group had determined that it had significant influence over CCIL as it held 15% of the voting power; and Alterra Limited having a contractual 
obligation to provide a performance guarantee to a CCIL customer. In addition, Greg Harvey was a director of both the Company and CCIL. The 
company sold it’s interest  CCIL during the reporting period. 
 
  



  

 

  Alterra Limited   Annual Report 2024 45 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 13: INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD (continued) 

 
Summarised financial information 
Statement of comprehensive income 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Revenue - 3,162,807 

Profit for the period - 1,308,027 

Other comprehensive income for the period - - 

Total comprehensive income - 1,308,027 

   

Dividends received during the period - 263,202 

 
Statement of financial position 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Current assets - 2,664,189 

Non-current assets - 2,138,809 

Total assets - 4,802,998 

Current liabilities - 290,420 

Non-current liabilities - 353,206 

Total liabilities - 643,626 

Net assets - 4,159,372 

 

 
Reconciliation of summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in associate 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Net assets of the associate - 4,159,372 

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in associate - 623,906 

Notional goodwill - 527,140 

Carrying value of the Group’s interest in associate  - 1,151,046 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 14: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Vehicles – right of use 72,098 72,098 

Less: accumulated depreciation (39,538) (23,257) 

Land – Carpenters Beedelup – right of use 13,627,660 13,707,035 

Less: accumulated depreciation (2,044,419) (1,599,154) 

 11,616,071 12,156,722 

 
The Group leases land and buildings for its offices and leases a motor vehicle under a lease between three to five years. The Group also has a lease 
for land at Beedelup for a period of 30 years with two additional 10-year options to extend.  The terms of the Carpenters lease include provision 
for additional lease payments as further land is developed and/or utilised.  Depreciation of the right of use asset in relation to the Carpenters lease 
has been capitalised during the year, refer note 12. 
 

NOTE 15: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

Current $ $ 

Trade payables 391,319 521,916 

Employee benefits accrual 28,064 28,526 

Sundry payables and accrued expenses 11,096 87,351 

 430,479 637,793 

 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 
 
Information regarding the effective interest rate and credit risk of current payables is set out in Note 22. 

 

NOTE 16: LEASE LIABILITIES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Current   
Lease liability 469,968 457,061 

 469,968 457,061 

Non-Current   

Lease liability 13,929,679 14,023,190 

 13,929,679 14,023,190 

 
The terms of the Carpenters lease include provision for additional lease payments as further land is developed and/or utilised.  See Note 14. 
Refer to Note 22 for further information on financial instruments. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 17: FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

BORROWINGS 
 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Secured bank debt   

Current 3,700,000 - 

Non current  - 3,700,000 

 3,700,000 3,700,000 
 
During the 2023, the Company entered into a secured debt facility (“the Facility”) for up to $3.7M with National Australia Bank Limited (NAB), to 
further advance the development of the Carpenters Project. Funds available under the Facility have supported the delivery of Stage 3 of the 
Carpenters Project and the commencement of planning for Stage 4, for which preparation work is already underway. The loan is fully drawn down 
and remains at $3.7m in 2024. 
  
The Facility is repayable on an interest only basis for an initial two-year term, maturing in February 2025 at an interest rate of 9.52% per annum, 
with the possibility of extension. NAB has a first ranking security over the assets of the Company, a mortgage over the Carpenters Project lease and 
right-of-entry over leasehold premises from which the Carpenters Project operates. The Debt Service Reserve Account was released during the 
period. The Facility has a financial covenant based upon a maximum 30% debt/equity ratio and is subject to annual reporting obligations. NAB has 
indicated a willingness to provide further funding for stage 4 and to extend the existing facility for a minimum of 12 months. 

 

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Current   
Hire purchase loans 241,071 188,753 

 241,071 188,753 

Non-Current   

Hire purchase loans 292,509 459,532 

 292,509 459,532 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 18: ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

   30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

   $ $ 

Issued capital     

862,146,446 (30 September 2023: 696,552,548) 
fully paid Ordinary Shares     19,725,096 19,725,096 

 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

Movement in Ordinary Shares on issue No. $ No. $ 

At beginning of the financial year 696,552,548 19,725,096 695,552,548 19,715,471 

Placement of shares 174,138,137 1,393,105 - - 

Share buyback (8,544,239) (51,265)   

Conversion of performance rights - - 1,000,000 11,000 

Less capital raising costs - (115,357) - (1,375) 

At 30 September 862,146,446 20,951,579 696,552,548 19,725,096 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion to the number of and 
amounts paid on the shares held. 
On 6 December 2024, shares were consolidated on a 1: 10,000 basis.  Consequently shares on issue are 86,310.  There was no change to the number 
of registered holders. 
 

Reserves 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

Share-based payment reserve   

At beginning of financial year 1,586,149 1,542,715 

Conversion of performance rights - (11,000) 

Share based payments – transfer on expiry of options (1,586,149) (22,820) 

Share based payments - expensed - 77,254 

At end of financial year - 1,586,149 

Total - 1,586,149 

 
Share based payment reserve 
This reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits provided to directors and key executives as part of their remuneration and to related 
parties in consideration for the establishment and ongoing promotion of the Group’s activities. Details of all options on issue by the Company are 
disclosed in Note 19. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 19: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices of, and movements in, share options issued during the year: 

  
12 months ended 

30 September 
2024 

 
12 months ended 

30 September 
2023 

 No. 
Weighted 

average exercise 
price 

No. 
Weighted 

average exercise 
price 

Outstanding at the beginning of the reporting period 20,000,000 $0.050 29,000,000 $0.050 

Granted during the reporting period - - - - 

Exercised during the reporting period - - - - 

Expired during the reporting period (20,000,000) $0.050 (9,000,000) $0.070 

Cancelled during the reporting period - - - - 

Outstanding at the end of the reporting period - $- 20,000,000 $0.040 

Exercisable at the end of the reporting - $- 20,000,000 $0.040 

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 30 September 2024 is nil years (30 September 2023: 0.19 
years). 
 
The outstanding balance as at 30 September 2024 is nil. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2023 

NOTE 19: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 

 
The following illustrates the number and valuation of the Performance Rights on issue at balance dates (issued in prior years), including the 
following milestones attached to them: 

 
 
 
Performance Rights 

Class E Class F Total 

At beginning of the period 6,500,000 2,000,000 8,500,00 

Granted during the period - - - 

Exercised over the period - - - 

Expired during the period (6,500,000) - (6,500,000) 

Cancelled during the period - - - 

Total - 2,000,000 2,000,000 

 

• Class E Performance Rights: 6,500,000 to vest on the date that the 30-day VWAP for the Shares on the ASX is $0.30 or higher during the 
period to the 12 months ending on 30 September 2024 (Milestone 5);  

• Class F Performance Rights: 2,000,000 to vest upon execution of a binding term sheet for the development or purchase of a minimum of 
50 hectares (Condition 1 relating to 1,000,000 performance rights) and 200 hectares (Condition 2 relating to 1,000,000 performance 
rights) of crops at the Carpenters Project.   
 
Performance rights subsequently expired on 30 September 2024.  

 

NOTE 20: CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

Subsidiaries of Alterra Limited 

Name Country of incorporation Ownership interest 

  12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
September 2023 

Carpenters Beedelup Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 21: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

The auditor of Alterra Limited is Elderton Audit Pty Ltd (2023:HLB Mann Judd). 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Amounts received or due and receivable for:   

An audit or review of the financial report of the entity and any other entity in the 
Group 20,000 65,336 

 

NOTE 22: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(i) Capital Risk Management 
The Group’s activities may expose it to a variety of risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 30 September 
2020. 
 

(ii) Categories of Financial Instruments 
 CONSOLIDATED 

 12 months ended 30 
September 2024 

12 months ended 30 
September 2023 

 $ $ 

Financial assets   

Trade and other receivables 411,729 48,362 

Investments - 1,151,046 

Loans receivable - - 

Cash and cash equivalents 527,026 1,141,927 

Total financial assets 938,755 2,341,335 

   

Financial liabilities   

Trade and other payables 430,479 637,793 

Lease liabilities 14,399,647 14,480,251 

 Borrowings 3,700,000 3,700,000 

Other financial liabilities 533,580 648,285 

Total financial liabilities 19,063,706 19,466,329 

   

Net financial liabilities (18,124,951) (17,124,994) 

 
During the financial year, no loans or receivables were revalued through profit or loss. 

 

(iii) Market Risk 
The Group is exposed to market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow 
interest rate risk. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 22: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

(iv) Credit Risk Management 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group 
has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of 
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group only transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent of investment grade 
and above. This information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available, the Group uses publicly available 
financial information and its own trading record to rate its major customers. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties 
are continuously monitored, and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure 
is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by the risk management committee annually. 
The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any Group of counterparties having similar 
characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparty is a bank with a high 
credit rating assigned by international credit rating agencies. 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowance for losses, represents the Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. 
 

(v) Liquidity Risk Management 
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, who have built an appropriate liquidity risk 
management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. 
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

  

(vi) Liquidity and interest rate risk tables 
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. These are based on the undiscounted cash 
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal 
cash flows.  

  

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 
rate % 

Less than 1 
month 1 – 3 Months 3 months – 1 

year 1 – 5 years 5+ years 

12 months ended 30 
September 2023  $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-interest bearing  430,479 - - - - 

Borrowings 9.27% - 85,825 3,785,825 - - 

Other financial 
liabilities 5.72% 17,587 32,273 145,231 338,488 - 

Lease liabilities 2.96% 1,138 2,276 500,245 2,466,774 11,429,212 

       

12 months ended 30 
September 2023 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-interest bearing  637,793 - - - - 

Borrowings 8.52% - 78,810 315,240 3,778,810 - 

Other financial 
liabilities 5.72% 22,203 44,406 199,826 381,849 - 

Lease liabilities 2.96% 1,138 2,276 450,245 2,230,872 19,163,800 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 22: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 
(vii) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 

• The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined 
with reference to quoted market prices. 

• The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments) are determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions. 

• The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities not recognised at fair value on a recurring basis approximates their carrying 
amounts at balance date. 

(viii) Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis 
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for variable rate instruments at the reporting 
date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting year.  A 50-
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents 
management’s assessment of the change in interest rates. 

 
At reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s: 

• Net result before tax would decrease by $90,624 (30 September 2023: decrease by $16,032) or increase by $90,924 (30 September 
2023: increase by $16,032). This is attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate instruments. 

• Total equity would have no change (30 September 2022: no change) attributable to the Company’s exposure to interest rates on its 
variable rate instruments. 

 

NOTE 23: CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

Reconciliation of Loss for the year to net cash flows from operating activities 
 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 12 months ended  
30 September 2024 

12 months ended  
30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Loss for the year (955,611) (2,243,466) 

Share in profit of associates - (196,204) 

Gain on sale of assets (691,968) 136 

Depreciation and amortisation 199,811 222,717 

Share-based payments - 54,434 

(Increase)/Decrease in receivables (363,366) 1,164,851 

(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments 50,363 43,701 

(Increase) in other assets 353,599 - 

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables (154,996) 224,551 

(Decrease) in provisions - (18,269) 

Net cash (used in) operating activities (1,557,263) (747,549) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 23: CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 

 
Reconciliation of liabilities to financing cashflows  
 

 12 months ended  
30 September 2024 

12 months ended  
30 September 2024 

12 months ended  
30 September 2023 

12 months ended  
30 September 

2023 

 Leases 
Borrowings and 

other financial 
liabilities  

Leases 
Borrowings and 

other financial 
liabilities  

Opening balance  14,480,251 4,348,285 14,388,718 571,235 

Borrowings drawn - - - 3,700,000 

Repayments - (195,091) - (239,769) 

Lease payments – payments for development 
assets (465,000) - (337,500) - 

Interest paid - (433,031) - (231,381) 

Non cash movements 384,396 513,417 429,033 548,200 

Closing balance  14,399,647 4,233,580 14,480,251 4,348,285 

 

NOTE 24: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (KMP) REMUNERATION 

Refer to the Remuneration Report contained within the Directors’ Report for details of remuneration paid or payable to each member of the 
Group’s key management personnel for the year ended 30 September 2024. 
 
The totals of remuneration paid to KMP of the Company and the Group during the year are as follows: 

                 CONSOLIDATED 

 12 months ended 
30 September 2024 

12 months ended 
30 September 2023 

 $ $ 

Short-term employment benefits 326,486 689,203 

Post-employment benefits 1,348 40,063 

Share-based payments - 49,122 

 327,834 778,388 

 

NOTE 25: COMMITMENTS 

(a) Operating Commitments 

 Commitments for minimum lease payments are now recognised as a right of use asset and lease liability, see Note 14 and Note 16.  
 

(b) Capital Commitments 

The Company had no capital commitments at balance date that are not included as liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2024 

NOTE 26:  PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES  

 CONSOLIDATED 

 30 September 2024 30 September 2023 

Financial position $ $ 

Assets   

Current assets 14,440,609 12,871,571 

Non-current assets 661,154 2,014,343 

Total assets 15,101,763 14,885,914 

   

Liabilities   
Current liabilities 363,830 350,921 

Non-current liabilities 4,010,276 4,192,003 

Total liabilities 4,374,106 4,542,924 

   

Equity   

Issued capital 20,951,579 19,725,471 

Accumulated losses  (11,693,315) (10,968,630) 

Reserves 1,469,392 1,586,149 

Total equity 10,727,656 10,342,990 

   
Financial performance    
Loss for the year (955,611) (2,243,841) 

Total comprehensive loss (955,611) (2,243,841) 

 
Refer to Note 25 for commitments of the parent entity which are the same as the Group. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2023 

NOTE 27: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that were entered into with related parties for the relevant financial period: 

 

Related party Sales to related 
parties 

Purchases from 
related parties 

Amounts owed by 
related parties 

Amounts owed to 
related parties 

 $ $ $ $ 

12 months ended 30 September 2024     

Gratia Australia Pty Ltd (i) - 175,263 - - 

Balion Pty Ltd(iii) - 8,920 - - 

12 months ended 30 September 2023     

Gratia Australia Pty Ltd (i) - 199,650 - - 

Happy Felix Manjimup Pty Ltd(ii) - - - - 

Balion Pty Ltd(iii) - 48,000 - - 

(i) Gratia Australia Pty Ltd is a company controlled by a related party of John Palermo. Gratia Australia Pty Ltd provided accounting services to Alterra. The fees are 
regarded as commercial.   

(ii) Happy Felix Manjimup Pty Ltd is a company controlled by John Palermo. The Company leased on a month-to-month basis office space in Manjimup owned by 
Happy Felix Pty Ltd.  The lease costs are commensurate with market rates and considered commercial. The lease ceased on 31 October 2022. 

(iii)  Balion Pty Ltd is a company controlled by Mark Clements. In addition to director services, Balion Pty Ltd provided company secretarial services for $48,000 in the 
period.  The fees are regarded as commercial. 

 

NOTE 28: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The Company has no contingent liabilities as at 30 September 2024 (30 September 2023: $Nil). 
 

NOTE 29: EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE 

The following significant events occurred after the year ended 30 September 2024:  

- On 30 September 2024, 6.5m performance rights expired 
- On 1 December 2024, 23,690 $100 convertible notes were issued  
- On 6 December 2024, shares were consolidated on a 1:10000 basis.  Consequently, shares on issue are 86,310.  There was no change to 

the number of registered holders. The following table illustrates pre and post consolidation equity securities on issue. 

Securities Pre- consolidation Post - consolidation 

Ordinary Shares on issue 862,146,446 86,310 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

1. In the opinion of the Directors of Alterra Limited (the ‘Company’):

(a) the accompanying financial statements, notes and additional disclosures are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including: 

i. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 September 2024 and of its performance for the year then ended;
and

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001, professional reporting requirements and
other mandatory requirements.

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

(c) the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board.

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with Section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 30 September 2024.

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

Paul Jensen 
Non-Executive Chairman 

Dated this 28th day of January 2025



Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Alterra Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Alterra Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 

to as “the Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September 2024, 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 

statements, including material accounting policy information, the consolidated entity disclosure statement and the 

directors' declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 September 2024 and of its financial

performance for the year then ended; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 

our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the code) that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to 

the directors of the Group, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor's 

report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to the Basis of Preparation note 1 (ac) of the financial report, which describes that the ability of 

the Company and the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on fund raising activities to raise further 

funds from the capital markets. As a result, there is a material uncertainty related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and therefore whether it will realise 

its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial 

report. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 

the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 

report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

We have determined the matter described below to be key audit matter to be communicated in our report. 

Impairment of PPE 

Refer to Note 11 and 12 to the financial report 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the matter 

Under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, the 

Group is required to annually test the 

amount of PPE for impairment. 

This annual impairment test was significant 

to our audit because the balance of 

capitalised WIP of $11.2m (relate solely to 

expenditure incurred by Alterra’s wholly 

owned subsidiary, Carpenters Beedelup 

Pty Ltd) included in PPE of $17m in total as 

of 30 September 2024 is material to the 

financial statements.  

In addition, management’s assessment 

process is complex and highly judgmental, 

being based on independent expert report 

and assumptions, specifically saleable 

production, sale price, cost price inflation, 

gross profit margin, asset life and discount 

rates, which are affected by expected 

future market or economic conditions. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to, the 

following: 

• We have reviewed the impairment test performed by

the management and expert report.

• We inquired management and held discussion about

management’s plan.

• We have assessed the competence and experience

of the expert used in the valuation of the Project.

• We have assessed the reasonableness of the

assumptions and methodology used by the

management and experts for impairment test in

particular those relating to the cost estimates,

completion percentage and profit margins.

• We have compared the value-in-use or estimated fair

value to sell for fair value calculations of the project

with the net book value of PPE.

• We assessed the compliance and adequacy of the

disclosure in the financial report as per requirements

of AASB 136.

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in the 
Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 September 2024 but does not include the financial report and our 
auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, 

we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 

have nothing to report in this regard. 

59



Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of i) the financial report (other than the consolidated 

entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 

and the Corporations Act 2001; and ii) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 

to enable the preparation of i) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that 

gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and ii) the 

consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 

arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error,

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the

financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and

whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 

audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 

to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Elderton Audit Pty Ltd 

Sajjad Cheema 

Director 

28 January 2025 

Perth 

61



Alterra Limited   Annual Report 2024 62 

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 

As at 23 January 2025 

Position Holder Name Holding Percentage 
1 PENAGRI AND RELATED ENTITIES 34,988 40.54% 
2 ONE MANAGED INVT FUNDS LTD 

<SANDON CAPITAL INV LTD A/C> 
13,766 15.95% 

3 ONE FUND SERVICES LTD 
<SANDON CAPITAL ACTIVIST A/C> 

8,931 10.35% 

4 EMANUEL EXPORTS  5,163 5.98% 
5 

TREASURE ISLAND HIRE BOAT COMPANY PTY LTD 
<STAFF SUPER FUND ACCOUNT> 

3,841 4.45% 

6 EMANUEL EXPORTS PTY LIMITED 3,614 4.19% 
7 ROBERT NAIRN PTY LTD 2,000 2.32% 
8 DAWS & SON PTY LTD 1,185 1.37% 
9 SAGE AND SAGO PTY LTD 

<GNHARLGURRAH SUPER FUND A/C> 
1,007 1.17% 

10 BENNETT GROUP 981 1.14% 
11 TREVOR STONEY 714 0.83% 
12 MR ANDREW KRAMP & 

MRS TRACY ANN KRAMP 
613 0.71% 

13 STEWART INVESTMENTS WA PTY LTD 
<STEWART FAMILY A/C> 

605 0.70% 

14 MERRITT FAMILY SUPER PTY LTD 
<MERRITT FAMILY SF A/C> 

400 0.46% 

14 BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED 
<RJTHOM - D65157 A/C> 

400 0.46% 

14 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 400 0.46% 
15 MULLOWAY PTY LTD 

<JOHN HARTLEY POYNTON FM A/C> 
357 0.41% 

16 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD 
<IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT> 

304 0.35% 

17 PETER MORRISON 300 0.35% 
18 MR ADRIAN BRENDAN BUCK 278 0.32% 
19 MR ANDREW SEYMOUR 252 0.29% 
20 WESTBROOK HOLDINGS PTY LTD 234 0.27% 

Total 80,333 93.07% 

Total issued capital - selected security class(es) 86,310 100.00% 
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